I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Robert Lee Freeman, petitioner, respectfully requests that this court accept review of the Court of Appeals decision in case number 68633-0-I terminating review designated in Part II of this petition.

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Petitioner respectfully requests that this court review the Court of Appeals' decision (1) vacating the trial court's denial of Mr. Freeman's motion for new trial, (2) converting Mr. Freeman's appeal to a personal restraint petition and (3) dismissing the petition as untimely and remand the case to the Court of Appeals with instructions to review the merits of Mr. Freeman's appeal.

A copy of the decisions from the Court of Appeals, Division II, terminating review, which were filed on December 23, 2013 and April 2, 2014 are attached as Exhibits "A" and "B".

III. <u>ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW</u>

- Did the Court of Appeals err in (1) vacating the trial court's denial of Mr. Freeman's motion for new trial, (2) converting Mr. Freeman's appeal to a personal restraint petition and (3) dismissing the petition as untimely?
- 2. Should this case be remanded to the Court of Appeals with instructions to review Mr. Freeman's direct appeal on the merits?

IV. <u>STATEMENT OF THE CASE</u>

On two separate occasions, members of the public were excluded from observing Mr. Freeman's 2003 trial – first during voir dire and then again during testimony. There is no record that the trial court ever considered any alternatives to closing the proceedings. When brought to the trial court's attention upon a motion for a new trial, the court failed to acknowledge that at the time of trial Mr. Freeman was entitled to have the court consider alternatives to closing the proceedings. While the law has not changed since the time of Mr. Freeman's trial, recent decisions from both the Washington and United States Supreme courts have emphasized the importance of the public trial right that was violated during Mr. Freeman's trial.

Despite recently being facilitated the opportunity to correct the injustice that occurred during Mr. Freeman's trial, the trial court refused to do so. The Court of Appeals also declined to address the issue by *sua sponte* vacating the trial court's order denying the new trial motion, converting Mr. Freeman's direct appeal to a Personal Restraint Petition and then dismissing the petition as untimely. As such, Mr. Freeman respectfully asks this Court to review the mistakes that occurred during his trial, the evolution of the law relating to the right to a public trial, and the injustice associated with the trial court's decision not to grant him a new

trial and the appellate court's refusal to consider the merits of Mr. Freeman's appeal.

A. Procedural History

Petitioner Robert Lee Freeman was convicted of rape of a child in the first, second, and third degree and child molestation in first, second, and third degree following a jury trial on March 27, 2003. He was sentenced to a term of 280 months on September 12, 2003. CP 2.¹

Since his 2003 sentencing, Mr. Freeman's case has continually been under the jurisdiction of the full range of appellate courts, including the Court of Appeals, State Supreme Court, US District Court, 9th Circuit, and the United States Supreme Court. CP 4-6.

Once the United States Supreme Court rejected Mr. Freeman's Petition for Writ of Certiorari, Mr. Freeman timely filed a motion to the trial court under CrR 7.8. CP 1-13. In that motion Petitioner Freeman sought a new trial. Id. That motion was denied. Mr. Freeman then appealed the denial of his motion for new trial. See Exhibit "C"². The Court of Appeals refused to address the merits of the appeal and instead (1) vacated the trial court's denial of Mr. Freeman's motion for new trial, (2) converted the appeal to a Personal Restraint Petition and (3) dismissed the petition as untimely. Mr. Freeman now seeks review from this Court,

¹ All references to CP and RP, herein, include references to those materials pertaining to the CrR 7.8 Motion for a New Trial. Because this case has been previously appealed, references that predate the CrR 7.8 motion are separately specified using dates and are properly cited within Mr. Freeman's 7.8 brief (CP 1-13).

² Opening brief of appellant filed in Division I on August 10, 2012.

requesting it find the appellate court should have addressed the merits of Mr. Freeman's direct appeal.

B. Facts

Petitioner Robert Lee Freeman was convicted of rape of a child in the first, second, and third degree and child molestation in first, second, and third degree following a jury trial on March 27, 2003. He was sentenced to a term of 280 months on September 12, 2003. CP $2.^3$

During the course of Mr. Freeman's trial, observers were required to leave the courtroom on two occasions. The first instance of spectator removal occurred during *voir dire*. CP 2, 37. After the court's off-therecord partial closing of the courtroom, the court referenced its actions on the record during a discussion about voir dire logistics:

MR. COLASURDO: Okay. Because we both are working off charts, and if you start moving people around –

THE COURT: That's why I told him his witnesses⁴ probably can't sit in here, because people stay in the same seats.

MR. COLASURDO: Great.

THE COURT: It's a lot easier for everybody to pick their people that way.

Okay. Any questions?

<u>Id</u>.

³ All references to CP and RP, herein, include references to those materials pertaining to the CrR 7.8 Motion for a New Trial. Because this case has been previously appealed, references that pre-date the CrR 7.8 motion are separately specified using dates.

⁴ The court misspoke when referencing "witnesses." There is no question the court meant Petitioner's family and supporters.

During the motion for new trial, the court had the benefit of declarations of Aria Freeman, John Freeman, Mary Freeman, and Jean Freeman supporting that the public was removed twice during the trial. CP 58-65.

The second occasion of courtroom closure involved the court ordering Mr. Freeman's fiancé, Aria Rozotti, to leave the courtroom during the testimony of Mr. Freeman's ex-wife. CP 77⁵. As it relates to the removal of Ms. Rozotti, the following excerpt from the trial transcript is informative:

MR. COLASURDO: ... The other thing is – there's two other things The State would ask that during the testimony of Virginia Freeman and Amie Freeman that Ms. Aria Rozotti be excused....

CP 77.

After Ms. Rozotti was identified, the prosecutor proceeded as follows,

MR. COLASURDO: So, in fairness to the two witnesses who do have an anti-harassment order, I would ask that she be excluded during their testimony.

CP 78.

The dialogue continued:

THE COURT: Any Objection?

MR. FREEBORN: Your Honor, I mean, I don't think it's really relevant to this matter. However, you know, in the interest of just getting this thing running through smoothly, I don't have a problem with her stepping out for that testimony.

⁵ Exhibit F was not originally obtained by Mr. Freeman's appellate counsel but has since been acquired (note certification date of October 15, 2008. RP (3/17/2003) 42).

THE COURT: All right. I will grant the motion. CP 79.

In two separate incidents, the court closed a public courtroom without ever considering reasonable alternatives to closing the proceeding. Additionally, the court made no findings related to its decision to close the courtroom.

As shown comprehensively in his trial court briefing, Mr. Freeman's case, despite appearing old (it was a 2003 trial), has not rested since the time of trial. See, CP 1-13 (thoroughly documenting the long procedural history and levels of appeal through which Mr. Freeman's case has travelled.) It returned to the trial court for the above-mentioned CrR 7.8 Motion for a New Trial in as timely a manner as the appellate process would allow – given that appellate and federal court jurisdiction was pending in the interim. The appeal of the trial court's denial of the motion for new trial timely followed but, as discussed above, was not decided on the merits. As this court is undoubtedly aware, virtually all levels of appellate courts have addressed the public trial issue over the course of the past decade. Mr. Freeman's appeal sought application of law that the courts have subsequently held existed prior to and during Mr. Freeman's trial, and asked the Court of Appeals to reverse his case and remand it for a new trial.

Importantly, during the CrR 7.8 hearing the trial court *would not* recognize it had improperly handled the public trial issue at the time of

8

trial. Therefore, the trial court erred when it denied Mr. Freeman's motion for a new trial and the Court of Appeals erred in not addressing that issue.

V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

This Court should accept review because the decision of the Court of Appeals was in conflict with RCW 10.73.090(3)(c) as well as <u>State v.</u> <u>Smith</u>, 144 Wn.App. 860, 184 P.3d 666 (2008) and <u>Castro v. United</u> <u>States</u>, 540 U.S. 375, 383, 124 S.Ct. 786, 157 L.Ed.2d 778 (2003). Additionally, because of the evolving case law surrounding the constitutional right to a public trial, this case presents a significant question of law under both the US and State Constitutions.

I. This Court should accept review because the Court of Appeals erred when it vacated the trial court's denial of Mr. Freeman's 7.8 motion, converted the motion to a personal restraint petition and then dismissed the petition as untimely.

A trial court's denial of a motion for a new trial under CrR 7.8(b) is reviewed for abuse of discretion. <u>State v. Olivera-Avila</u>, 89 Wn.App. 313, 317, 949 P.2d 824 (1997) (*citing* <u>State v. Ellis</u>, 76 Wn.App. 391, 394, 884 P.2d 1360 (1994)). In Mr. Freeman's case, the trial court abused its discretion when it denied Mr. Freeman's motion for a new trial for the following reasons:

First, despite Mr. Freeman's argument that the law the court was asked to follow existed prior to Mr. Freeman's trial, the trial court erroneously found that, "...it is not contested that at the time of this trial existing current case law was followed." CP 140. It was indeed contested and the above facts were exemplified in briefing to show the trial court what mistakes were made during the trial and how those mistakes violated both the State and Federal constitutions at the time of the trial. Most importantly, this issue was argued in the CrR 7.8 briefing arguing for a new trial, as well as during oral argument. See, CP 1-13, RP 2-36.

Second, the court erred in its reliance upon the judge's own memory as opposed to the official record of the proceedings, when it stated, "...the court does not have independent memory sufficient to verify that these events occurred and must depend on the official transcript for this purpose." <u>Id</u>. Respectfully, as noted above, there were two documented instances of courtroom closure. Each of the instances was elaborated upon and explained in the declarations that were also submitted by Mr. Freeman in his motion for new trial. The trial court's conclusions were erroneous.

Importantly, there is no doubt that Mr. Freeman's motion was properly before the trial court and the court heard the motion on its merits. In fact, instead of filing a response brief to the trial court on this issue, the state filed a motion asking the trial court to send Mr. Freeman's requested relief to the Court of Appeals as a PRP. *The trial court declined* and, as indicated, went ahead and heard the motion at a full hearing, denied relief, and entered findings and conclusions as indicated. See, CP 139-141. At that point the matter was properly before the Court of Appeals for review on direct appeal. When the Court of Appeals acted *sua sponte*, and outside of either parties' requests, Mr. Freeman was denied the protections articulated in <u>State v. Smith</u>, 144 Wn.App. 860, 184 P.3d 666 (2008). <u>Smith</u> appropriately addressed the impact of a court's ruling on a defendant's successive Personal Restraint Petition rights under RCW 10.73.140. Specifically, the <u>Smith</u> court relied on precedent from <u>Castro v. United</u> <u>States</u>, 540 U.S. 375, 383, 124 S.Ct. 786, 157 L.Ed.2d 778 (2003) for the example and proposition that, "'[R]echaracterizing pro se motion requires giving petitioner notice of intent to recharacterize the motion, a warning that the recharacterization could subject it to second or successive motion rule, and an opportunity to withdraw or amend the motion before successive motion rule restrictions can apply.'" <u>State v. Smith</u>, 144 Wn.App at 864, *citing* <u>Castro</u> at 383.

However, nowhere did the <u>Smith</u> court limit its impact to Petitioners who had not yet filed a personal restraint petition. Mr. Freeman's motion under CrR 7.8 had been timely filed under the clear language of RCW 10.73.090(3)(c) – as the United States Supreme Court had denied his petition for certiorari. A plain reading of that statute dictates Mr. Freeman's judgment did not become final until the United States Supreme Court denied certiorari in matters related to Mr. Freeman's conviction following trial. It is true that the United States Supreme Court's denial was related to Mr. Freeman's habeas petition. However, the habeas petition sought relief for the state court's decision affirming

11

Mr. Freeman's conviction on direct appeal of the very case that is before this court. Mr. Freeman timely filed at each level of review. After the United States Supreme Court denied his certiorari petition, RCW 10.73.090(3)(c) determined his filing deadline under CrR 7.8. Mr. Freeman complied with its time limitations. As such, this Court should, respectfully, accept review and reverse the actions of the Court of Appeals with Mr. Freeman's rights in mind.

II. This court should accept review so Mr. Freeman's case will be decided on the merits – as he has shown the trial court erred in denying his 7.8 motion and his public trial rights were clearly violated.

While Mr. Freeman's case was pending before the U.S. Supreme Court, Division I of the Washington Court of Appeals handed down its opinion in <u>State v. Njonge</u>, 161 Wn.App 568, 255 P.3d 753 (2011). The <u>Njonge</u> opinion addressed removal of the public from the jury selection process. The court's reversal was based on the following holding:

...Because the court excluded the public from a portion of jury selection without applying the <u>Bone-Club</u> test, we reverse Njonge's conviction and remand for a new trial.

<u>Id</u>. at 580.

It is critical for the court to note that <u>Njonge</u> was published while Mr. Freeman's case was pending before the U.S. Supreme Court. The previous appellate court review related only to the second public trial right issue – the removal of Aria Rosetti during a witness's testimony. <u>See</u>, CP 107-108 (discussion of exhaustion of public trial issue). Because there was new law on the issue of voir dire courtroom closure, it was a motion requesting a new trial. As mentioned, the trial court proceeded, but it denied the motion and requested relief.

Accordingly, where the Court of Appeals erroneously declined to address this issue on the merits, this Court should, respectfully, reverse its decision and see to it that Mr. Freeman is afforded the review he deserves.

VI. <u>CONCLUSION</u>

Based on the above cited files and authorities, Mr. Freeman respectfully requests that this court reverse his conviction and grant him a new trial.

Respectfully submitted this 2nd day of May, 2014.

HESTER LAW GROUP, INC., P.S. Attorneys for Petitioner