A. IDENTITY OF RESPONDENT 

Respondent, the State of Washington, respectfully asks this 

Court to deny the petition for review. 

B. FACTS AND COURT OF APPEALS OPINION 

Freeman filed an untimely CrR 7.8 motion in the King County 

Superior Court. Although the State asserted that the motion should be 

transferred to the Court of Appeals because it was untimely, the trial 

court concluded that timeliness was a matter for the Court of Appeals 

to determine, denied the State's motion to transfer, and denied 

Freeman's CrR 7.8 motion. Freeman appealed, and in an unpublished 

opinion, Division I of the Court of Appeals vacated the denial of 

Freeman's motion, converted the appeal to a personal restraint 

petition, and dismissed it as untimely. State v. Freeman, No. 68633-0-

1 (Div. I, Dec. 23, 2013) (attached to Petition for Review). 

C. ARGUMENT 

THE COURT SHOULD DENY THE PETITION FOR REVIEW. 

Freeman's petition for review is based on two assertions: (1) 

that his CrR 7.8 motion was timely filed, and (2) that the Court of 

Appeals, on its own motion, erroneously converted his appeal to a 

personal restraint petition and dismissed it as untimely. Neither of 

these contentions is correct. 
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Freeman repeatedly claims that his CrR 7.8 motion was 

"timely," but in so doing, he ignores the plain language of RCW 

10. 73.090. A "collateral attack" is any form of post-conviction relief 

other than a direct appeal, including, but not limited to, a personal 

restraint petition, a habeas corpus petition, a motion to vacate 

judgment, a motion for a new trial, and a motion to arrest judgment. 

RCW 10. 73.090(2). With a number of exceptions inapplicable to 

Freeman, a collateral attack must be brought within one year from the 

date the judgment becomes final, which occurs on the last of the 

following dates: 

(a) The date it is filed with the clerk of the trial court; (b) 
The date that an appellate court issues its mandate 
disposing of a timely direct appeal from the conviction; 
or (c) The date that the United States Supreme Court 
denies a timely petition for certiorari to review a decision 
affirming the conviction on direct appeal. 

RCW 10.73.090(1), (3). 

Freeman filed his CrR 7.8 motion more than six years after the 

mandate issued in his direct appeal. CP 1; 160-61. He did not petition 

the Supreme Court for a writ of certiorari to review the decision 

affirming his conviction on direct appeal. Rather, the petition for 

certiorari that his argument relies on sought review of a federal district 

court's dismissal of a habeas petition. CP 107,129,131. 
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Federal habeas review is a collateral civil proceeding in which 

the court is not asked to review the state court's criminal judgment on 

direct appeal; rather the federal court asks only whether the 

petitioner's custody is lawful. See Coleman v. Thompson, 501 U.S. 

722, 730, 111 S. Ct. 2546, 115 L. Ed. 2d 640 (1991) ("When a federal 

district court reviews a state prisoner's habeas corpus petition ... it 

must decide whether the petitioner is 'in custody in violation of the 

Constitution or laws or treaties of the United States.' ... The court 

does not review a judgment, but the lawfulness of the petitioner's 

custody simpliciter." (internal citations omitted) (emphasis in original)). 

Moreover, before a defendant may seek federal habeas relief, 

he is required to exhaust his remedies in state court. 28 U.S.C.A. § 

2254(b)(1 )(A); see also O'Sullivan v. Boerckel, 526 U.S. 838, 842, 119 

S. Ct. 1728, 144 L. Ed. 2d 1 (1999) ("[T]he state prisoner must give the 

state courts an opportunity to act on his claims before he presents 

those claims to a federal court in a habeas petition."). Principles of 

comity require "that when a prisoner alleges that his continued 

confinement for a state court conviction violates federal law, the state 

courts should have the first opportunity to review this claim and 

provide any necessary relief." Boerckel, 526 U.S. at 842. 

Freeman's judgment and sentence unquestionably became 

final on January 27, 2006, when the mandate issued affirming his 
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conviction and sentence. CP 160-67; RCW 10.73.090(3); see also ln 

re Pers. Restraint of Haghighi, 178 Wn.2d 435, 448, 309 P.3d 459 

(2013) ("RCW 10.73.090's time bar promotes finality of judgments, a 

principle especially important in this context because a petitioner 

cannot obtain federal habeas corpus relief until his or her judgment is 

final." (emphasis added)). Freeman's CrR 7.8 motion was filed almost 

six years later. CP 1. Therefore, the Court of Appeals properly found 

that the motion was untimely pursuant to RCW 10.73.090. 

Freeman also maintains that the Court of Appeals denied him 

unspecified rights when it acted on its own motion, "and outside of 

either parties' [sic] requests [sic]," by converting his appeal to a 

personal restraint petition and dismissing it as untimely. Pet. for Rev. 

at 11. It is not clear why Freeman characterizes the court's decision 

as sua sponte when the State specifically asked for the relief granted. 

See Brf. of Respondent at 11 ("It would be a waste of judicial 

resources to remand the case to the superior court simply for the 

purpose of having the superior court transfer the motion back to this 

Court. This Court should convert this appeal to a personal restraint 

petition, and dismiss it as untimely and successive."). 

Moreover, contrary to Freeman's argument, State v. Smith, 144 

Wn. App. 860, 184 P.3d 666 (2008) does not preclude the outcome at 

issue. Unlike the defendant in Smith, Freeman had previously filed a 
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personal restraint petition, and was therefore subject to the successive 

petition rule of RCW 10.73.140 prior to filing the instant CrR 7.8 

motion. Although Freeman argues that Smith does not expressly 

restrict its holding to second or subsequent personal restraint 

petitioners, the integrity of its analysis necessarily depends on such a 

limitation. 

Pursuant to CrR 7.8(c)(2), Freeman's untimely motion should 

have been transferred to the Court of Appeals for consideration as a 

personal restraint petition. As such, the Court of Appeals properly 

converted the direct appeal to a personal restraint petition, and 

dismissed it as untimely. Freeman has failed to establish that review 

under RAP 13.4(b) is appropriate. 

D. CONCLUSION 

For above-stated reasons, the State respectfully asks that the 

petition for review be denied .